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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA  

  
Case No. 5:20-CR-28-MW/MJF  

  
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  
  
v.  
  
JAMES D. FINCH, et al.  
  

Defendant.  
                                                           /  

  
DEFENDANT FINCH’S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT 26  

OF THE SECOND SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT   
  

Defendant James D. Finch, by and through undersigned counsel, moves 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12 to dismiss Count 26 of the Second 

Superseding Indictment as legally insufficient.  Count 26 lacks specificity and fails 

to state an offense punishable by the statutes of the United States.1    

 
1 The unfair prejudice that has occurred before the Grand Jury bears repeating.  The 
Pensacola Grand Jury that heard this matter was presented with a charging document 
making it appear that Finch provided a false statement to the FBI agent.  The severe 
impact on Grand Jury’s decision—deliberating and returning a true bill on a 
convoluted, misleading, factually and legally flawed superseding indictment in 
under two minutes—is undeniable.    
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I.  Procedural Background  

On November 16, 2021, after a presentation to a new Grand Jury in Pensacola, 

the government obtained a 26-Count Second Superseding Indictment, charging a  

  
duplicitous conspiracy count.  ECF No. 214.2  The remaining counts charge  

Defendants Finch and/or Anderson with honest services wire fraud (Counts 2–14,  

20–24), theft or bribery concerning programs receiving federal funds (Counts 15– 

17), wire fraud (Counts 18–19), and making false statements (Counts 25–26).  Id.  

The government incorporated all 122 paragraphs of factually duplicitous allegations 

in each of Counts 1–25.  Id.  For no discernable reason, Count 26 did not incorporate 

paragraphs 1 through 122.2    

II.  Count 26   

Count 26 of the Second Superseding Indictment charges Finch with violating 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and -(3), which makes it a crime to knowingly and willfully 

make any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation in any  

  
2 Finch will not go into painstaking detail about the tortured history of the Second 
Superseding Indictment, from the Court’s dismissing language for vagueness to 

 
2 The government has repeatedly made this same error throughout this case.  In fact, 
Counts 29 and 63 of the initial Indictment were dismissed for failure to allege or 
incorporate essential facts.  See ECF No. 60 at 16-17.   

2  
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dismissing a count for imprecision to dismissing a count for violating the statute of 
limitations on its face to dismissing conspiracy counts multiple times for fatal flaws 
only to have it reinstated with clear multiple and duplicitous conspiracies, to the 
government’s drafting errors to misinformation and admitted false testimony placed 
before the multiple Grand Juries.  Suffice it to say that the government has earned 
the harsh language:  “The Government’s reckless, haphazard approach is testing this 
Court’s patience.”  ECF Nos. 294, 312.  And, what saved the government from a 
finding of intentionally misleading the Grand Jury “is the distinction between 
incompetence and malice.” Id.  Unfortunately, the Court, and the defendants, must 
bear the burden of legally attempting to decipher this “reckless, haphazard 
approach.”    
  
manner within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of the 

United States.  Specifically, Count 26 alleges:   
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ECF No. 214 at ¶ 146.    

The government then alleges that Finch’s statements and the July 6, 2018, bill 

of sale were false, as Finch then well knew:   

3  
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Id. at ¶ 147.   
  
III.  Memorandum of Law  

A motion to dismiss tests the legal sufficiency of an indictment.  An 

indictment must contain “a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the 

essential facts constituting the offense charged,” Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c), and “ ‘each 

count of an indictment must be regarded as if it were a separate indictment and must 

stand on its own content without dependence for its validity on the allegations on 

any other count not expressly incorporated.’ ” United States v. Schmitz, 634 F. 3d  

1247, 1261 (11th Cir. 2011) (quoting United States v. Huff, 512 F. 2d 66, 69 (5th 

Cir. 1975)).  Even when an indictment “tracks the language of the statute, ‘it must 

be accompanied with such a statement of the facts and circumstances as will inform 

the accused of the specific offense, coming under the general description, with which  
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4  

he is charged.”  Schmitz, 634 F. 3d at 1259-60 (quoting United States v. Jordan, 582  

F. 3d 1239, 1245 (11th Cir. 2009); United States v. Bobo, 344 F. 3d 1076, 1083 (11th 

Cir. 2003)).   

For Finch to be found guilty of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, the government must 

prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: first, that Finch 

made the statement or used the documents as charged; second, that the statement or 

document was false; third, that the falsity concerned a material matter; fourth, that 

Finch acted willfully, knowing that the statement or document was false; and fifth, 

that that false statement or false document was made or used for a matter within the 

jurisdiction of a department or agency of the United States.  See Pattern Criminal 

Jury Instructions for the Eleventh Circuit, O36.    

An indictment is sufficient if it, first, contains the elements of the offense 

charged and fairly informs a defendant of the charge against which he must defend, 

and second, enables him to plead an acquittal or conviction in bar of future 

prosecutions for the same offense.  Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 

(1974); United States v. Sepulveda, 15 F.3d 1161, 1192 (1st Cir. 1993). “It is 

generally sufficient that an indictment set forth the offense in the words of the statute 

itself, as long as those words of themselves fully, directly, and expressly, without 

any uncertainty or ambiguity, set forth all the elements necessary to constitute the 

offence intended to be punished.”  Hamling, 418 U.S. at 117.  On a motion to  
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5  

dismiss, the question is “whether the allegations in the indictment are sufficient to 

apprise the defendant of the charged offense.”  United States v. Stepanets, 879 F.3d  

367, 372 (1st Cir. 2018) (quoting United States v. Savarese, 686 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 

2012)).    

First, Count 26 is legally infirm because it lacks specificity regarding alleged 

falsity and does not provide Finch sufficiently specific notice of his criminal conduct.  

This investigation involved the government’s formulating an ambiguous legal 

conclusion about Finch’s statements and records provided to the FBI.  While the 

government alleges that Finch lied when providing a statement to former FBI Special 

Agent Lawrence Borghini on July 13, 2020, the Second Superseding Indictment fails 

to state the factors or truth the government relies upon to make the legal conclusion.  

Count 26 does not fairly inform Finch of his alleged illegal conduct.  Finch asserts 

that Count 26 is insufficient because he is unable—from looking at the four corners 

of the document—to answer the following:    

• Does Count 26 allege that Finch falsely stated that he sold a 
motorhome?    

• Does Count 26 allege that Finch falsely identified the buyer of the 
motorhome?    

• Does Count 26 allege that Finch falsely stated the sale price of the 
motorhome?    

• Does Count 26 allege that Finch falsely stated how he received 
payment for the motorhome?    
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6  

• Does Count 26 allege that the bill of sale falsely states the agreed upon 
terms of the transaction?  

• Does Count 26 allege some combination of all or part of the above?  

As drafted and charged, how will the Court fairly instruct the jury on the 

ambiguous and unspecific allegations in Count 26?  Will the government be tasked 

with proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant Anderson was a buyer of the 

motorhome at the time of the sale, and if so, under what legal standard and criteria?  

Will the jury be tasked with making a legal conclusion as to Defendant Anderson’s 

legal entitlement to items and property purchased by her husband without her 

knowledge or involvement, and if so, pursuant to what criteria?  The  

Second Superseding Indictment fails to provide Finch with sufficient information to 

“prepare a defense and to invoke double-jeopardy protections to forestall a later trial 

on the same charges.” Stepanets, 879 F.3d at 373.  Accordingly, because of the 

government’s grossly ambiguous drafting leaves a defendant groping around in the 

proverbial dark, the Court should dismiss Count 26.  

 Second, and equally important, Count 26 fails to state a crime and dismissal is 

warranted because (1) the Second Superseding Indictment does not “track” Finch’s 

actual statement to the FBI per the government’s own evidence and (2) Finch’s 

statements are objectively true.  In Count 26, the government alleges that  

Finch made the following two statements:  that he “sold a 2006 ITAS Motorhome to  

ANDERSON and her husband for $70,000” and that Finch “sold the Motorhome to  
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ANDERSON and her husband for $70,000 and they had paid him with a check and 

the difference in cash.”  ECF No. 214  ¶ 146(a),(c).   

The government’s discovery and Borghini’s sworn testimony about Finch’s 

statements are internally inconsistent.  Indeed, the government has not presented and 

cannot present a unified version of Finch’s alleged July 13, 2020, statement.  The 

government has improperly pieced together select portions of Finch’s statement and 

manufactured an ambiguous violation of 18 U.S.C. §1001(a)(2).    

If the false statement concerns whether Finch sold the motorhome: the FBI  

302 of Finch’s interview on July 13, 2020, claims, “Finch stated . . . he had purchased 

[the motorhome] from Chris Forehand.”  The government’s discovery shows Finch’s 

name was on the title documents from Chris Forehand.4    

  
4 The Court will recall that Chris Forehand was and is the City’s outside engineer.  
He was interviewed multiple times by the government and supposedly was and is a 
witness for the government.  He was subpoenaed to appear at the last hearing on the 
Motions to Dismiss on March 31, 2022.  He appeared, but apparently through his 
attorney, declined to testify under oath in open court without a grant of immunity.  
After much back and forth with the government, the government informed the 
defense that Forehand’s counsel indicated that Forehand’s testimony “would not be 
helpful to the government.”  The defense has still not received a copy of all discovery 
regarding Mr. Forehand, despite repeated requests.  Under a separate motion, Finch 
will be addressing this issue, yet again seeking sanctions and an order to compel 
production of all proffer/immunity agreements with individuals interviews in 
relation to the allegations within the Second Superseding Indictment, all witness 
reports and agent notes from several individuals that have come forward publicly 
and privately indicating that they were interviewed by Bay Count Sheriff’s Office 
and the FBI in relation to this case, and copies of the Brady and Giglio materials in 
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connection with and seized as a result of the August 2021 search warrant executed 
on GAC.    

8  

 

Margo Anderson was not interviewed about the motorhome transaction.  Lee  

Anderson, her husband, was not interviewed by any law enforcement officer.  

Forehand and Finch apparently were the only two people who were interviewed 

about the motorhome, and their statements are not inconsistent with the fact that 

Finch purchased the motorhome from Forehand and Finch later sold the motorhome 

to Lee Anderson.  Thus, the discrepancy and ambiguity, even in the government’s 

own evidence, demonstrate that the allegation fails to state a crime, and this 

statement cannot be objectively false.   
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If the false statement concerns the identity of the buyer: the FBI 302 of 

Finch’s interview on July 13, 2020, claims, “Finch stated that he sold the Andersons 

a motorhome.” James Finch 302 (July 13, 2020).  But, Borghini’s notes, which were  

9  

withheld until July 17, 2021, contradict the 302.  The suppressed Borghini notes 

indicate that Finch stated that he “sold [the motorhome] to Lee Anderson,” not that  

“he sold the Andersons a motorhome . . . .”3  The allegations clearly do not “track” 

Finch’s statement regarding the identity of the buyer.  Therefore, the allegation 

fails to state a crime, and the statement cannot be objectively false.   

If the false statement concerns the sale price of the motorhome: the FBI 302 

of Finch’s interview on July 13, 2020, claims “Finch stated . . . that he sold . . . a 

motorhome for $70,000 – $75,000.”  The allegations in Count 26 clearly do not 

“track” Finch’s statement regarding the sale price of the motorhome.  Additionally, 

the government’s discovery contains no evidence to the contrary and none was 

 
3 The government’s twisted narratives presented to multiple Grand Juries and the 
public has changed repeatedly. At one point, it was alleged that Finch “arranged to 
have [Chris Forehand] sell” the motorhome to Margo Anderson. ECF No. 1 ¶ 54; 
ECF No. 64 ¶ 81. In the same charging documents, the allegations changed from 
selling the motorhome to Margo Anderson to her “receiving a free Motorhome” from 
Finch. ECF No. 1 ¶ 57; ECF No. 64 ¶ 84.  Nonetheless, neither these allegations nor 
any factual allegations from the Second Superseding Indictment were incorporated 
by reference into Count 26.  This is precisely why Count 26 should be dismissed for 
failing to provide sufficient information to prepare a defense and to invoke 
doublejeopardy protections.  

10  
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presented to the Grand Jury.  Again, this allegation fails to state a crime and cannot 

be objectively false.   

If the false statement concerns the amount received by Finch: the FBI 302 of  

Finch’s interview on July 13, 2020, stated he was paid in “cash” and “check.”  The  

  
government claims this statement is objectively false because Borghini testified that 

he could not “find any money, any cash being withdrawn from the Andersons’ 

accounts or anything like that going to Mr. Finch in July 2018 or anytime thereafter.”  

DX 7, Grand Jury Tr. 65:18-22, Nov. 16, 2021; see also id. 67:6-11 (Q: And could 

you find any money in this time frame with respect to being taken out of—cash being 

taken out or other checks or anything like that for this?  A: I could find no funds that 

the Andersons converted to cash or had any cash that was paid to Mr. Finch.”).  This 

claimed justification for charging a false statement may be the most troubling of all, 

reflecting the way this case has been investigated and presented throughout.  

The government’s conclusory leaps and the presentation of evidence created 

a false dichotomy.  Just because Borghini could not locate or trace a specific cash 

transaction does not objectively prove that it did not or could not have happened.  

Indeed, the inherent nature of cash transactions militates against the government’s 

flawed and impossible conclusions about what Finch knew to be true.  See e.g., 

United States v. Vesaas, 586 F.2d 101, 103 (8th Cir. 1978) (dismissing § 1001 charge 

alleging that defendant falsely claimed he did not own property in joint tenancy with 
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his deceased mother; indictment failed to allege a false statement because it is legally 

impossible to own property in joint tenancy with a deceased person).    

In other words, the government has presented no objective evidence that 

disproves Finch’s statements regarding the amount received for the sale of the  

11  

motorhome.  Therefore Count 26 fails to state a crime and should be dismissed.   

Numerous courts of appeals have upheld the dismissal of indictments or 

counts charging false statement offenses where the government alleges a falsity that 

fails to “track” the statement alleged to be false.  See United States v. Finucan, 708 

F.2d 838, 846-48 (1st Cir. 1983) (“[I]n order for a charge of perjury to be sustained, 

the ‘true’ paragraph must ‘track’ the false testimony.” (quoting United States v.  

Tonelli, 577 F.2d 194, 199 (3d Cir. 1978))); see Tonelli, 577 F.2d at 198-99 

(indictment which alleged that defendant falsely claimed he never “handled the 

transmission” of checks by stating that he “never handled any checks” failed to 

allege a false statement); United States v. Gatewood, 173 F.3d 983, 986-88 (6th Cir.  

1999) (dismissing § 1001 charge alleging that defendant falsely claimed he made 

“full payment” to certain subcontractors by certifying “that he had made payments” 

to those subcontractors; “[t]he indictment presents a false dichotomy, because 

certifying that one has made payments to subcontractors is not inconsistent with 

having yet to pay the subcontractors in full”); United States v. Williams, 536 F.2d 
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1202, 1206-07 (7th Cir. 1976) (dismissing perjury count which alleged that 

defendant falsely claimed she saw her co-defendant’s husband at a particular address 

on a particular day by answering “yes” when asked if she “continue[d] to see” him 

at that address on that day); United States v. Cowley, 720 F.2d 1037, 1043-44 (9th 

Cir. 1983) (concluding that perjury count failed to state an offense where count  

12  

alleged that defendant falsely claimed he had been given checks by stating that he 

had been given an envelope); cf. United States v. Good, 326 F.3d 589, 591-92 (4th 

Cir. 2003) (affirming dismissal of § 1001 charge where indictment charged 

defendant with falsely stating she had not been convicted of certain specified crimes 

on an employment application; although defendant had been convicted of 

embezzlement, embezzlement was not one of the listed crimes).  Here, dismissal is 

justified based on the lack of specificity, the internal inconsistencies, as well as the 

recklessness and lack of precision with which the government is seeking to hold a 

citizen accountable criminally.  

Furthermore, the government’s allegations and charges regarding the bill of 

sale Finch provided the FBI is equally problematic.  First, the allegation is 

selfcontradictory and confusing.  As written by the government and approved by the 

Grand Jury after 120 seconds of deliberation, the allegation is that Finch “falsely 

stated that . . . FINCH presented a false bill of sale.”  ECF No. 214 ¶146(b).  Even if 
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the Court permitted striking portions of subparagraph (b), the revised allegation 

would still fail to state a Section 1001(a)(3) offense under Rule 12.  

For a conviction to be sustained under § 1001(a)(3), it is imperative that the  

“writing or document” be “false.”  United States v. Blankenship, 382 F.3d 1110, 

1132 (11th Cir. 2004) (“Based on our analysis of both the text of § 1001 and 

caselaw, it appears there are only two ways in which a contract can possibly be  

13  

considered “false.”).  First, a contract is false if a person forges or alters it.  Id.  This 

is not the case here.  The only other way in which a contract can be “false” is if it 

contains factual misrepresentations.  Id.  However, a “contract is a document that 

serves only to establish a legal relationship between two parties; it gives each party 

nothing more than a legal expectancy in having the other party either perform or 

(generally) respond in damages.”  Id. (citations omitted).  A contract, like the bill 

of sale, “is nothing more than an instrument giving each party the legal right to do 

so; how they choose to exercise that power (or whether they ever intended to 

exercise it at all) is a matter beyond the four corners of the document, and has no 

impact on whether the contract itself is ‘false.’ ” Id. at 1134.    

The contracts at issue actually created the legal rights they purported to 

create; the creation of such legal rights is the sole purpose of a contract.  

“Presentation of a contract to a third party does not convey and implicitly guarantee 
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either that the parties to the contract intended to perform, or that they intended to 

actually enforce their contractual rights.  A contract is nothing more, and nothing 

less, than what it actually states.”  Id.  Even if the government subjectively 

disbelieves the parties’ intent or motivations for entering into a written agreement, 

“this does not render the contract ‘false’”  Id.   

Lastly, the Court cannot cure Count 26’s defects by striking portions of the 

allegations.  Striking portions of the allegations from Count 26 would alter  

14  

substantially and substantively the charge against Finch.  See, e.g., United States v.  

Dowdell, 595 F.3d 50, 67-68 (1st Cir. 2010) (noting that, while the court may make 

“ministerial corrections of clerical errors” in indictments, the indictment’s “charges 

may not be broadened through amendment except by the grand jury itself” (quotation 

omitted)).  

IV.  Conclusion  

For the reasons stated above, Count 26 of the Second Superseding Indictment 

is legally defective and should be dismissed for failing to allege or incorporate 

sufficient, specific facts and for failing to state an offense.      
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LOCAL RULE 7.1(F) CERTIFICATION  

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(F), the undersigned certifies that this motion 

contains 3,286 words pursuant to the word count provided by Microsoft Word.  

  

LOCAL RULE 7.1(K) REQUEST FOR HEARING  

Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(K), Defendant James D. Finch respectfully 

requests that the Court set this matter for hearing because oral argument would assist 

the Court in resolving the issues raised in this Motion to Dismiss.  The undersigned 

estimates that the defense would need approximately 30 minutes for argument 

regarding Count 26.    

15  

Respectfully submitted,  
  

  /s/ Guy A. Lewis  
 

Guy A. Lewis   
Florida Bar No. 623740  
Jeffrey M. Forman  
Florida Bar No. 105135  
The Law Offices of Guy A. Lewis PLLC  
12575 SW 67th Avenue  
Pinecrest, Florida 33156 954-688-
6340 glewis@lewistein.com  
jforman@lewistein.com  
  

Counsel for Defendant,  James D. Finch  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on September 12, 2022, I electronically filed the 

foregoing document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF and that a true and 

correct copy of the foregoing has been served electronically via the CM/ECF System 

on all counsel of record.  

  

/s/ Guy A. Lewis  
 

GUY A. LEWIS  
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